STATE OF WISCONSIN

RECEIVED

COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

MAR 08 2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

App. No. 2018AP000152

Case No. 2010CF000269

State of Wisconsin,
Plaintiff- Respondent,

Chase M.A. Boruch,

Defendant-Appellant.

v.

On Appeal From An Order Denying Boruch's
Request For Waiver Of Transcript Preparation Fees,
Entered In The Lincoln County Circuit Court On January 4, 2018,
The Honorable Robert R. Russell, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Chase M.A. Boruch WCI P.O. Box 351 Waupun, WI 53963

Pro Se

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. On September 29, 2015, Boruch filed in the Lincoln County Circuit Court, a number of papers challenging his conviction in Lincoln County Case No. 2010CF000269 ("10-CF-269"), among which was a motion pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 974.06 ("974.06 Motion"). R: 171. See also R: 172 R: 187. Represented by Lincoln County District Attorney, Mr. Galen Bayne-Allison, and by Assistant Attorney General, Mr. Robert J. Kaiser, the State of Wisconsin Objected to Boruch's 974.06 Motion on April 25, 2016. R: 208. After further briefing, several hearings and oral arguments, the Circuit Court DENIED Boruch's 974.06 Motion on April 27, 2017 ("974.06 Order"). R: 247; Appx. 102.
- 2. On July 14, 2017, Boruch appealed the Circuit Court's 974.06 Order to this Court. R: 255. App. No. 2017AP001441. After many requests for waiver of transcript preparation fees, both in this Court and in the Circuit Court, the Circuit Court DENIED Boruch's request for waiver of fees to prepare transcripts necessary to prosecute App. No. 2017AP001441, in an order dated September 19, 2017. R: 267, Appx. 106. Boruch appealed this order to this Court (App. No. 2018AP002116), and this Court REVERSED the same and ordered the Circuit Court to conduct a Girouard hearing, which the Circuit Court did on January 4, 2018. R: 281. The Circuit Court again DENIED Boruch's request for waiver of fees. R: 282; Appx. 112. Boruch appealed (App. No. 2018AP000152), which is the matter currently before this Court. On January 16, 2019, this Court ordered the Circuit Court to produce a transcript of the Girouard hearing.

The Circuit Court Erred By Using As The Basis For Denying Boruch's Request For Fee Waiver At The Girouard Hearing, The Fact That The Circuit Court Had Already Denied Boruch's Wis. Stat. § 974.06 Motion.

3. Boruch contends that the Circuit Court erred. Boruch contends that the Circuit Court's interpretation of Girouard v. Circuit Court, 155 Wis. 2d 148, 454 N.W. 2d 792 (Sup. Ct. 1990), renders Girouard pointless and useless, because the Circuit Court applied as a Girouard analysis, the fact that it had already denied Boruch's 974.06 Motion, reasoning, therefore, that there was no merit to an appeal of the same, and thus no need for transcripts.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

4. Boruch requests publication, because there is no case law which Boruch can find discussing how "merit" is to be assessed in a <u>Girouard</u> context, which is the body of this appeal. Boruch does not request oral argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF FACTS

5. On November 29, 2010, a criminal complaint was filed in 10-CF-269, charging Boruch with First-Degree Intentional Homicide in the death of his mother, Sally Pergolski. R: 1. On November 16, 2011, after a seven-day jury trial, Boruch was found guilty of First-Degree Intentional Homicide. R: 76. On January 23, 2012, Boruch was sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of release onto extended supervision. R: 140; Appx. 101.

- 6. Boruch pursued a direct appeal, and his conviction was affirmed on January 22, 2014. R: 163. App. No. 2013AP-000925-CR. State v. Boruch, 2014 WI App 24, 352 Wis. 2d 755, 848 N.W. 2d 711. Boruch's petition for review to the Wisconsin Supreme Court was denied on May 23, 2014. R: 165. State v. Boruch, 2014 WI 50, 354 Wis. 2d 864, 848 N.W. 2d 859.
- 7. On September 29, 2015, Boruch filed his 974.06 Motion, challenging his conviction in 10-CF-269. The Circuit Court held four hearings on Boruch's 974.06 Motion: January 4, 2016; January 11, 2017; February 21, 2017; April 27, 2017 (hereinafter, when referring to these hearings collectively, Boruch will refer to the same as "the Hearings"). On April 27, 2017, in an oral ruling, the Circuit Court issued its 974.06 Order, DENYING Boruch's 974.06 Motion as barred by State v. Escalona-Naranjo, 185 Wis. 2d 168, 517 N.W. 2d 157 (Sup. Ct. 1994). Appx. 102.
- 8. On or about July 1, 2017, Boruch filed a letter in the Circuit Court (This may be erroneously entered in the Record as # 256, but is attached hereto as Appx. 103 103.7), wherein Boruch again requested that fees for producing transcripts of the Hearings be waived. Appx. 103.1. Boruch had earlier requested waiver of transcript preparation fees in a letter to the Circuit Court, dated February 16, 2017 (This may be erroneously entered into the Record as # 244, but is attached hereto as Appx. 104 104.5), in another letter to the Circuit Court, dated February 24, 2017 (This does not appear in the Record, but is attached hereto as Appx. 105 -

- 105.2), and during the April 27, 2017 hearing at which the Circuit Court entered the 974.06 Order. The Circuit Court ignored Boruch's requests for waiver.
- 9. On July 14, 2017, Boruch initiated an appeal in this Court concerning the Circuit Court's 974.06 Order. App. No. 2017AP001441. Then, on September 19, 2017, the Circuit Court entered an order DENYING Boruch's request for waiver of transcript preparation fees (hereinafter "Transcript Order"). R: 267; Appx. 106. On or about September 29, 2017, Boruch filed a letter in this Court, asking the Court to waive transcript preparation fees. Appx. 107 107.2. This Court DENIED that request in an order dated October 3, 2017. Appx. 108.
- 10. On October 16, 2017, Boruch, pursuant to this Court's October 3, 2017 Order, filed a notice of appeal concerning the Circuit Court's Transcript Order, initiating App. No. 2017AP002116. Pursuant to this Court's October 3 Order, proceedings in App. No. 2017AP001441 were STAYED pending resolution of App. No. 2017AP002116.
- 11. On November 13, 2017, Boruch filed a motion for summary disposition in this Court, asking for summary reversal of the Circuit Court's Transcript Order. Appx. 109 109.11. On November 30, 2017, this Court did SUMMARILY REVERSE the Transcript Order, ORDERING the Circuit Court to conduct a Girouard hearing. Appx. 110 110.2. On December 5, 2017, the Circuit Court scheduled a Girouard hearing for January 4, 2018. R: 281.

- 12. On December 21, 2017, Boruch sent a letter to the Circuit Court, wherein Boruch described that which he would be seeking at the <u>Girouard</u> hearing, and also requesting waiver of fees to produce a transcript of the <u>Girouard</u> hearing itself (This letter does not appear on the Record, but is attached hereto as Appx. 111 111.5).
- Girouard hearing, and again DENIED Boruch's request for waiver of transcript preparation fees. R: 282 (hereinafter "Second Transcript Order"). Appx. 112. Also on January 4, 2018, but after the Girouard hearing, Boruch sent a letter to the Circuit Court, again asking for waiver of fees in producing a transcript of the Girouard hearing, as provided in State v. Jacobus, 167 Wis. 2d 230, 235, 481 N.W. 2d 642 (Ct. App. 1992) (This letter also does not appear in the Record, but is attached hereto as Appx. 113 113.10). The Circuit Court ignored Boruch's request for waiver of fees.
- 14. On January 23, 2018, Boruch initiated an appeal of the Circuit Court's Second Transcript Order, App. No. 2018AP000152, the appeal which is currently before this Court. Then, on January 25, 2018, Boruch filed another motion for summary disposition in this Court, asking for summary reversal of the Second Transcript Order. Appx. 114 114.16. This Court DENIED Boruch's request for summary disposition on February 7, 2018. Appx. 115.
- 15. On April 20, 2018, the Record On Appeal was filed in this Court in the instant appeal. R: 300.

16. On or about February 8, 2019, the Circuit Court Reporter filed in this Court, the transcript of the January 4, 2018, <u>Girouard</u> hearing, as Ordered by this Court on January 16, 2019.

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court Erred By Using As The Basis For Denying Boruch's Request For Fee Waiver At The Girouard Hearing, The Fact That The Circuit Court Had Already Denied Boruch's Wis. Stat. § 974.06 Motion.

- 17. The Wisconsin Supreme Court decided Girouard v. Circuit Court, 155 Wis. 2d 148, 454 N.W. 792, in 1990. Girouard instructs Circuit Courts to waive fees associated with preparing transcripts for indigent litigants in civil cases. Girouard, 159. This Court made this clear in its November 30, 2017 Order, which Order granted Boruch's November 13, 2017, motion for summary disposition. Appx. 110 -110.1. In that same Order, this Court instructed the Circuit Court, that "If the circuit court finds the action [Boruch's 974.06 Motion] is not frivolous and the petitioner is indigent, the court must (emphasis added) waive the transcript fees. Girouard, 155 Wis. 2d at 159." Appx. 110.1. The Circuit Court did FIND Boruch to be indigent (Appx. 112; 1-4-18 Tran, p. 19), but made NO findings as to frivolity, simply restating that it had already denied Boruch's 974.06 Motion, which it also did with NO findings as to whether Boruch's 974.06 Motion did or did not have merit.
- 18. Since <u>Girouard</u> was decided in 1990, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has cited <u>Girouard</u> 10 times in its opinions (Based on a LEXIS search on April 20, 2018). NONE of the

post-<u>Girouard</u> opinions of the Wisconsin Supreme Court describes how "merit," for the purposes of transcript fee waiver, for the further purpose of appeal, is to be assessed. Further, since 1990, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals has cited <u>Girouard</u> 76 times in its opinions (Based on a LEXIS search on April 20, 2018), NONE of which describes how "merit," for the purposes of transcript fee waiver, for the further purpose of appeal, is to be assessed. Boruch assumes, for the purposes of this appeal, that this Court is equating "not frivolous" with "arguably meritorious", or "frivolous" with "meritless".

- 19. Whether a claim is arguably meritorious, is a question of law, which this Court reviews de novo. State ex rel.

 Hansen v. Circuit Court, 181 Wis. 2d 993, 998, 513 N.W. 2d
 139, 141 (Ct. App. 1994). In this Court's November 30, 2017
 Order, this Court indicated that the Circuit Court "must"
 (Appx. 110.1) grant waiver of transcript preparation fees if
 Boruch is found indigent, and if the claims advanced on Boruch's 974.06 Motion are not "frivolous." Appx. 110.1. Indigency is clearly a finding of fact. The Circuit Court did
 FIND Boruch to be indigent (1-4-18 Tran, p. 19), and Boruch does not seek to reverse that part of the Second Transcript Order.
- 20. Boruch asserts that the Circuit Court improperly applied <u>Girouard</u> when it stated, "This Court has already found and ordered...'that the Defendant is entitled to no relief' in its order of May 4, 2017, and therefore has already found that the defendant's claims for relief are not 'arguably meritorious'

- as required by <u>Girouard</u>..." Appx. 112. 1-4-18 Tran, pgs. 20-21. In the 974.06 Order, the Circuit Court never described why Boruch's claims were meritless. Incorporating by reference an order which itself does not assess merit, is no way to make a merits assessment.
- 21. The level of proof required on Boruch's 974.06 Motion is clear and convincing evidence. State v. Walberg, 109 Wis. 2d 96, 102, 325 N.W. 2d 687, 689 (Sup. Ct. 1982). (Boruch disputes this level of proof, though does so in a way which may not be relevant to this appeal, and is raised now for the purposes of non-waiver). The Circuit Court FOUND this at the April 27, 2017 hearing. In finding that Boruch's 974.06 Motion was without merit, the Circuit Court found that Boruch had not demonstrated by clear and convincing evidence that he was entitled to relief. If the standard for arguable merit, for the purposes of appeal, were clear and convincing evidence, there would never be a need for a Girouard hearing, at least in a § 974.06 context, because if one could satisfy a clear and convincing standard at a Girouard hearing, then one would have already shown merit, by clear and convincing evidence, on the underlying Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion, which would entitle the person to relief, and thus no appeal would be had (at least not by the defendant), and thus there would be no need for transcripts. This would leave the circuit court's decision unreviewable.
- 22. In addition, <u>Girouard</u> is applied in civil cases with different natures. It is applied in 974.06 contexts, in which the nature is quasi-criminal, and the burden of proof

is by clear and convincing evidence. Walberg, 107. Girouard is also applied in civil cases with the normal burden of proof, that is, a preponderance of the evidence. Small v. Krupp, 2014 Wisc. App. LEXIS 635 (Ct. App. 2014). In fact, Girouard is a "preponderance of the evidence" case itself, that is, a parental visitation rights case. Monroe County Department of Human Services v. T.M. (In re M.A.B.), 2017 Wisc. App. LEXIS 610 (Ct. App. 2017); Wis. Stat. § 48.415 (1)(c)(preponderance of evidence required).

- 23. The only way to make <u>Girouard</u> functional in its applications to cases with differing burdens and natures, is to require a claim-by-claim specific assessment of merit, that is, the intrinsic rights and wrongs of each claim advanced, which Boruch argued at the <u>Girouard</u> hearing. 1-4-18 Tran, p. 17. In order to avoid <u>Girouard</u> being used as a self-referential, begging the question logical fallacy, <u>Girouard</u> must be understood to define "arguable merit", for the purposes of appeal, as a standard proportionally lower than the burden on the underlying action. Otherwise, <u>Girouard</u> would be superfluous.
- 24. Boruch asks that this Court FIND/CONCLUDE that arguable merit, for the purposes of appeal in a <u>Girouard</u> context, means "legally cognizable," that is, does the law recognize the claim being advanced as something upon which relief <u>could</u> be granted. If so, there is arguable merit to an appeal.
- 25. If this Court chooses to assess this appeal under the "not frivolous" language used in its November 30 Order,

and also decides that "frivolous" is something different than "without arguable merit", there is some authority on such assessment, under which, an appeal from the Circuit Court's 974.06 Order would not be frivolous.

- 26. Wis. Stat. § 809.25(3) discusses when an appeal can be considered frivolous. An action is frivolous if it is without a reasonable basis in law or equity. § 809.25(3)(c)(2). This is similar to the way that Fed. R. App. P. 38 is construed. This "reasonable basis" language seems to indicate that an appeal cannot be frivolous if the claims raised therein are "legally cognizable". A claim is cognizable if it is capable of being judicially examined. Garner, Bryan A., ed. Black's Law Dictionary, p. 132. St. Paul: West Publishing Co., 2016. All of the claims raised by Boruch in his 974.06 Motion are legally cognizable. The State conceded this at the April 27, 2017 hearing on Boruch's 974.06 Motion. See also 1-4-18 Tran, pgs. 10 and 11.
- 27. By another definition of "frivolous," an appeal is frivolous if the result of the appeal is obvious. N.L.R.B. v. Catalina Yachts, 679 F. 2d 180, 182 (9th Cir. 1982). For the Circuit Court to find that an appeal from its 974.06 Order would obviously fail requires a lot of assumptions and inferences. For example, in its 974.06 Order, the Circuit Court denied Boruch's request for a State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W. 2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979), hearing. If the same were overturned on appeal, it is possible that trial counsel would testify such that Boruch would be entitled to relief. This constitutes a plausible chance that the Circuit Court's 974.06

Order would be reversed, and when an appeal has a plausible chance at reversal, it cannot be frivolous. 21-338 Moore's Federal Practice - Civil § 338.20[2]. Also, an appeal is unlikely to be frivolous when there is little or no caselaw interpreting the issues raised. Id. As shown above (¶ 18), Boruch is unable to find any authority interpreting Girouard in a Wis. Stat. § 974.06 context.

- If this Court chooses to assess this appeal under the "arguably meritorious" language used in its November 30 Order, and also decides that "without arguable merit" is NOT equivalent to "frivolous," there is some authority by which this appeal can be assessed, under which, Boruch is entitled to relief. This authority is the "no-merit report" procedure. In Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), the U.S. Supreme Court established the no-merit procedure, and in that opinion, the Court specifically indicated that "without arguable merit" is NOT equivalent to "frivolous." Anders, 743. This was reaffirmed in Smith v. Robbins, 528 U.S. 259, 270 (2000). Wis. Stat. § 809.32 is Wisconsin's no-merit rule. This rule REOUIRES a discussion as to why a claim does or does not have merit, and this rule was found acceptable by the U.S. Supreme Court in McCoy v. Court of Appeals, 486 U.S. 429 (1988). Under this theory, the Circuit Court erred, because there was no discussion by the Circuit Court as to merit before it entered its 974.06 Order.
- 29. The <u>Girouard</u> application to Section 974.06 motions is confusing and unclear, and thus requires explanation by this Court. Boruch respectfully asks this Court to clarify the terms and applications in and of Girouard.

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, Boruch respectfully requests that this Court please grant Boruch the following relief:

- 30. That this Court please find this as a timely-filed brief;
- 31. That this Court AFFIRM the portion of the Second Transcript Order which found Boruch to be indigent;
- 32. That this Court FIND/CONCLUDE/HOLD that "arguable merit", for the purposes and in the context of <u>Girouard</u>, for the further purpose of appeal, is equivalent to "leg-ally cognizable";
- 33. That this Court FIND/CONCLUDE/HOLD that a proper <u>Girouard</u> analysis, for the purposes of transcript fee waiver, for the further purpose of appeal, requires SPECIFIC, claim-by-claim analysis of merit with SPECIFIC findings of fact and conclusions of law;
- 34. That this Court DECLARE the exact burden of proof that a petitioner must meet to establish arguable merit in a Girouard analysis when seeking transcript preparation fee waiver, when the underlying action is a Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion;
- 35. That this Court assess each claim advanced by Boruch in his 974.06 Motion [the underlying action upon which the Circuit Court applied <u>Girouard</u>] (R: 171 R: 187, R: 208, 222, 224, 225, 235), making SPECIFIC findings of fact and conclusions of law for each claim, and therefrom make a finding that Boruch has established "arguable merit" for the purposes of transcript fee waiver, for the purposes of this

appeal, and that this Court then ORDER that transcripts of the Hearings be produced at no cost to Boruch, or, in the ALTERNATIVE, that this Court REMAND this matter to the Circuit Court for an identical assessment;

36. For such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and equitable.

CONCLUSION

37. The Circuit Court erred. The Circuit Court erred in not ordering production of transcripts of the Hearings.

The Circuit Court erred by incorporating into its Second

Transcript Order, the 974.06 Order it entered on April 27,

2017, because the Circuit Court did not make specific and express findings/conclusions as to why it considered Boruch's claims to be without merit. For this, Boruch requests that this Court please grant Boruch the relief requested above.