# RECEIVED

# STATE OF WISCONSIN 05-07-2019

# COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

## DISTRICT III

Case No. 2018AP152

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHASE M.A. BORUCH,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A REQUEST FOR WAIVER OF A TRANSCRIPT FEE ENTERED IN LINCOLN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ROBERT R. RUSSELL, PRESIDING

## BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KARA L. MELE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1081358

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

When considering whether a claim for relief exists, "if the facts pleaded reveal an apparent right to recover under any legal theory, they are sufficient as a cause of action." Luedtke, 220 Wis. 2d at 579. "The facts pleaded must be taken as true, but legal conclusions need not be accepted." Id.

Notably, this Court in *Luedtke* interpreted Wis. Stat. § 814.29 following the Wisconsin Supreme Court's

amendment to the statute in 1993. See State ex rel. Hansen v. Cir. Ct. for Dane Cty., 181 Wis. 2d 993, 997 n.5, 513 N.W. 2d 139 (Ct. App. 1994). Before that, the statute provided that a "person may prosecute an appeal without being required to pay any fee, upon the court's approval of an affidavit that, because of poverty, the person is unable to pay the costs of the appeal and that the person believes that he or she is entitled to the redress sought." State ex rel. Girouard v. Cir. Ct. for Jackson Cty., 155 Wis. 2d 148, 157, 454 N.W.2d 792 (1990) (emphasis added). See also Wis. Stat. § 814.29(1) (1991–92).

As to the second requirement in the *prior* language of Wis. Stat. § 814.29(1)—that the person believes that he is entitled to the redress sought—this Court in *Girouard* characterized the relevant inquiry as whether the appealing indigent "has arguable reason to believe he is entitled to redress on the appeal," or whether the claim is "arguably meritorious," or whether "the person . . . present[s] a claim upon which relief can be granted." *Girouard*, 155 Wis. 2d at 151, 159 (citations omitted). So while the phrase "arguably meritorious" in *Girouard* appears to call for an assessment of whether the proposed action underlying the fee-waiver request properly states a claim for relief, it ultimately does not matter, as the current language of Wis. Stat. § 814.29(1)(c) requires as much. *Luedtke*, 220 Wis. 2d at 578.

Thus, while *Girouard* appears to be the controlling case setting forth the standard for analyzing fee-waiver requests under Wis. Stat. § 814.29 (R. 280), it is important to note that the language of the statute has changed since this Court's decision. *See Hansen*, 181 Wis. 2d at 997 n.5. Whether the supreme court's amendment to the statute altered the *Girouard* standard or not, the current test is (1) whether the person seeking a fee waiver is indigent, and (2) whether the proposed action states a claim upon which relief may be granted. *Luedtke*, 220 Wis. 2d at 578. And this test applies to criminal litigants seeking free transcripts on direct appeal,

see State v. Jacobus, 167 Wis. 2d 230, 234, 481 N.W.2d 642 (Ct. App. 1992) (indicating that the *Girouard* procedure applies to a criminal defendant's request for free transcripts to appeal), as well as litigants like Boruch, pursuing collateral relief under Wis. Stat. § 974.06. (R. 280:1–2.)

2. To properly state a claim for relief in a Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion, a defendant must provide a "sufficient reason" for not bringing his current claims during his direct appeal.

Wisconsin Stat. § 974.06 allows collateral review of a defendant's conviction based on errors of jurisdictional or constitutional dimension. See State v. Johnson, 101 Wis. 2d 698, 702, 305 N.W.2d 188 (Ct. App. 1981). But the statute "was not designed so that a defendant, upon conviction, could raise some constitutional issues on appeal and strategically wait to raise other constitutional issues a few years later." State v. Escalona-Naranjo, 185 Wis. 2d 168, 185, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994). Therefore, "[w]ithout a sufficient reason, a movant may not bring a claim in a § 974.06 motion if it 'could have been raised in a previously filed sec. 974.02 motion and/or on direct appeal." State v. Romero-Georgana, 2014 WI 83, ¶ 34, 360 Wis. 2d 522, 849 N.W.2d 668 (citation omitted). See also Wis. Stat. § 974.06(4).

Ineffective assistance of postconviction or appellate counsel may constitute a sufficient reason for not previously raising an issue. State ex rel. Rothering v. McCaughtry, 205 Wis. 2d 675, 682, 556 N.W.2d 136 (Ct. App. 1996). But a defendant cannot merely claim that postconviction or appellate counsel was ineffective—he must "make the case" of ineffective assistance, not just point to issues that were not raised on direct appeal. See State v. Balliette, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 67, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334. And he is required to do so within the four corners of his motion. State v. Allen, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 27, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433. See also

Romero-Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 64 ("We will not read into the § 974.06 motion allegations that are not within the four corners of the motion.").

"To prove deficiency, 'the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Romero-Georgana*, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 40 (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984)). "[A] court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. "Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential." *Id*. "Counsel need not be perfect, indeed not even very good, to be constitutionally adequate." *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 19, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305 (citation omitted).

Importantly, when a defendant in a Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion alleges that his postconviction or appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to bring certain claims, he must demonstrate that his current claims are clearly stronger than the claims that postconviction or appellate counsel actually brought. Romero-Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 4; State v. Starks, 2013 WI 69, ¶ 6, 349 Wis. 2d 274, 833 N.W.2d 146. This "clearly stronger" pleading standard is part of the deficient performance prong of the Strickland test. Romero-Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶¶ 45, 58; Starks, 349 Wis. 2d 274, ¶ 60. The purpose of the clearly stronger standard is to allow a court "to compare the arguments now proposed against the arguments previously made." Romero-Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 46. A court should reject a claim that fails to allege, with particularity, how and why the claims the defendant wanted raised are "clearly stronger" than the claims postconviction or appellate counsel actually raised. See Balliette, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 69.

To prove prejudice, "the defendant must show that [counsel's deficient performance] actually had an adverse effect on the defense." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693. "It is not

enough for the defendant to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding." *Id.* "The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* at 694.

# B. Boruch's Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion is legally insufficient.<sup>6</sup>

Because "it is quite clear that under no condition can" Boruch obtain relief on his Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion, he has failed to properly state a claim. *Luedtke*, 220 Wis. 2d at 578 (citation omitted). The circuit court therefore correctly denied his request for a fee waiver. *Id*.

Boruch pursued a direct appeal of his conviction with the assistance of counsel. (R. 163). The general rule is that he is barred from seeking relief under Wis. Stat. § 974.06. *Romero-Georgana*, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 34. *See also* Wis. Stat. § 974.06(4). However, an exception exists: if Boruch can show a sufficient reason for failing to previously raise his current claims, he can bring them. *Id.* Thus, to properly state a claim for relief in this context, Boruch needed to show that he meets the exception to the general rule. *See Romero-Georgana*, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶¶ 36–37. *See also Scott v. Savers Prop. and Cas. Ins. Co.*, 2003 WI 60, ¶¶ 3–4, 14–18, 262 Wis. 2d 127, 663 N.W.2d 715 (holding that the lower courts properly dismissed the complaint for failure to state a claim because, although the complaint alleged all the elements of a negligence claim,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The State notes at the outset that Boruch did not comply with Wis. Stat. § 814.29(1)(b). He did not file the correct form for seeking a waiver of fees and costs at the circuit court. (R. 243; 244; 263; A-App. 103–05.) Instead, he filed a "Petition for Appointment of An Attorney, Affidavit of Indigency." (R. 243; A-App. 104.4.)

it failed to show an exception to the governmental immunity bar). Boruch did not meet his burden.

To decide whether Boruch's Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion states a claim for relief, this Court confines its analysis to the four corners of his motion. See Allen, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 27; Romero-Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 64. As noted, Boruch's § 974.06 motion offered the ineffective assistance of postconviction/appellate counsel as the sufficient reason for not bringing his current claims sooner. (R. 171:60–71; 210:7.) He also alleged that his current claims are "clearly stronger" than the claim that appellate counsel raised on direct appeal. (R. 171:63–71.)

But Boruch makes a fatal omission: he did not make the case of postconviction/appellate counsel's ineffectiveness. Specifically, he made no effort to *demonstrate* that his current claims are clearly stronger than the claim that his appellate counsel raised. He needed to do so. *See Romero-Georgana*, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 62 (a defendant is required to "say why the claim he wanted raised was clearly stronger than the claims actually raised").

Boruch's motion alleged that postconviction/appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise his trial-counsel-ineffectiveness claims and his claims of "other trial prejudices/errors." (R. 171:62.) He then proceeded to examine his current claims in a "clearly stronger light," which was simply a summary of his current claims. (R. 171:63–71.) Boruch did not compare those claims to the merits of the claim that appellate counsel raised on direct appeal. (R. 171:63–71.) The closest that he came was by asserting that this Court labeled his direct-appeal claim, "unreasonable in the extreme" (R. 171:66, 69), but that is not accurate. This Court made that statement when considering whether the claimed error was harmless (R. 163:7–9), which was the *State's* burden to both raise and prove, *State v. Hunt*, 2014 WI 102, ¶ 26, 360 Wis. 2d 576, 851 N.W.2d 434. Regardless, this Court "will not assume

ineffective assistance from a conclusory assertion." *Romero-Georgana*, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 62.

Moreover, Boruch's hollow assertion that his current claims are clearly stronger than the claim that appellate counsel raised is undermined by the fact that he revived his direct-appeal claim in his Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion, albeit with some re-packaging. (R. 171:48 ("In Boruch's direct appeal . . . Boruch's attorney argued that the Trial Court's response to a jury note was an abuse of discretion and was fundamentally unfair. Boruch hereby re-alleges and re-asserts the arguments of Appellate Counsel, and asserts that the same demonstrates that the Trial Court gave a faulty jury instruction") (emphasis added).) By reasserting the issue that he now criticizes appellate counsel for bringing, Boruch has overcome the "strong presumption" not that counsel postconviction/appellate performed reasonably. Romero-Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522,  $\P$  40.

Further, "the clearly stronger standard may not be adequate when counsel has valid reasons for choosing one set of arguments over another. These reasons may include the preferences, even the directives, of the defendant." Romero-Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 46. In this regard, Boruch has failed facts for to provide support whvpostconviction/appellate counsel was ineffective for choosing the claim that she brought: "Did she act contrary to his directive? Did she fail to advise him" of his current claims? Romero-Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 60. As the United States Supreme Court long ago explained, "[c]ounsel's actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices made by the defendant and on information supplied by the defendant." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. Boruch did not articulate, however, when or how he attempted to raise his current claims with postconviction/appellate counsel, or what he did in aid of those claims. (R. 171:62–71, 83–84; 180:1–4.) Nor did he allege that postconviction/appellate counsel failed

to advise him of his current claims. (R. 171:62–71, 83–84; 180:1–4.) Boruch's motion thus does not undermine the presumption that postconviction/appellate counsel had good reasons for not pursuing his current claims. For example, Boruch could have told postconviction/appellate counsel to bring his direct-appeal claim after she advised him of his options, including his current claims. *See Romero-Georgana*, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 62.

Boruch's Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion also failed to provide facts or support showing that any deficient performance on postconviction/appellate counsel's part caused him prejudice. "A proper allegation of prejudice" in this context would state that Boruch would have told postconviction/appellate counsel to pursue his current claims had she advised him that they were options. *Romero-Georgana*, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 68. Boruch made no such allegation. (R. 171:62–71, 83–84; 180:1–4.)

The bottom line is that Boruch cannot pursue relief under Wis. Stat. § 974.06 unless he has a sufficient reason for not previously raising his current claims, and he failed to properly allege one. He cannot attempt to cure his pleading deficiencies through briefing. Allen, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 27. So Boruch's 168-page reply brief at the circuit court is not relevant to whether he properly stated a claim in his Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion. But even if it was, he still made no effort to demonstrate that his current claims are clearly stronger than the claim that appellate counsel raised. (R. 222:18–86.) Once again, he did not compare his current claims to the claim that appellate counsel litigated. (R. 222:18–86.) And while he proposed new "sufficient reasons" to justify his failure to bring his current claims sooner, he offered no law to support them. (R. 222:44, 47, 59, 61, 72.) Moreover, Boruch's reply brief does not contain a proper allegation, per Romero-Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 68, that any deficient

performance on postconviction/appellate counsel's part caused him prejudice. (R. 222:18–86; 223:1–5.)

For the above reasons, Boruch's Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. The circuit court therefore properly denied his feewaiver request. See Luedtke, 220 Wis. 2d at 578.

On appeal, Boruch argues that the circuit court "erred by using as the basis for denying [his] request for a fee waiver . . . the fact that [it] had already denied [his] Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion." (Boruch's Br. 6.) He appears to contend that in resolving his fee-waiver request, the court was required to decide (1) whether he was indigent, and (2) whether his Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion stated a claim upon which relief may be granted. (Boruch's Br. 7, 9, 12.) If he is, the State agrees that that is the relevant inquiry. *Luedtke*, 220 Wis. 2d at 578.

It is unclear if the circuit court applied the proper test in resolving Boruch's fee-waiver request. (R. 328:20–21.) But it does not matter because "[i]t is well-established that if a trial court reaches the proper result for the wrong reason, it will be affirmed." State v. Holt, 128 Wis. 2d 110, 124, 382 N.W.2d 679 (Ct. App. 1985), superseded on other grounds by statute. Despite seemingly identifying the relevant test, Boruch develops no argument on appeal as to whether his Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion states a claim upon which relief may be granted. He only offers the conclusory assertion that "[a]ll of the claims raised by Boruch in his 974.06 Motion are legally cognizable." (Boruch's Br. 10.) This Court "may decline

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> To the extent that Boruch's other postconviction motions are relevant to the analysis (R. 176; 178; 204; 224; 225), they also fail to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. Boruch needed a sufficient reason for not bringing them sooner. *See State v. Kletzien*, 2011 WI App 22, ¶¶ 11−13, 331 Wis. 2d 640, 794 N.W.2d 920; *State v. Henley*, 2010 WI 97, ¶ 63 n.25, 328 Wis. 2d 544, 787 N.W.2d 350. Thus, those motions fail to state a claim upon which relief may be granted for the reasons discussed above.

to review issues inadequately briefed." State v. Pettit, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992).

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